FILED

FILED Sep 28, 2016 Court of Appea Division/ly State of Washington UUT 03 2016

WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

SUPREME COURT NO

COA NO. 73047-9-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF WASHINGTON STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent, V. CHARLES BLUFORD, Petitioner. ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY The Honorable Julia Garratt, Judge PETITION FOR REVIEW

CASEY GRANNIS Attorney for Petitioner

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC 1908 East Madison Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 623-2373

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Charles Bluford asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision designated in Part B of this petition.

B. <u>COURT OF APPEALS DECISION</u>

Bluford requests review of the published decision in <u>State v.</u> <u>Charles Bluford</u>, Court of Appeals No. 73047-9-I (slip op. filed Aug. 29, 2016), attached as appendix A.

C. <u>ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW</u>

Whether the court violated Bluford's due process right to a fair trial in joining nine counts for trial because the evidence was not cross-admissible to show identity via modus operandi and the jury could not be expected to compartmentalize the evidence?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State charged Bluford with nine counts, which included seven counts of first-degree robbery plus a charge of first-degree rape of one victim and indecent liberties of another victim. CP 11-14. The State initially charged Bluford under three different cause numbers, but moved to join all the counts for trial. CP 379-406. Bluford filed a motion to sever five of the counts from the others. CP 369-77. Argument from both parties covered all counts. 1RP 3-43. The court considered these cross motions at the same hearing and joined all counts for trial. CP 15-18; 1RP

43-52. In joining the offenses, the trial court ruled the crimes were cross admissible for the following reasons:

Each incident occurred within an approximately two month period. Each incident occurred during hours of darkness. Each incident occurred in the Seattle metro area. Each incident occurred in a residential area. The defendant was a stranger to each victim. In each incident, the victims were alone when an African American male approached with a handgun and gave verbal demands to the victims. The descriptions of the handgun by the victims are similar. Four of the victims gave a description of the vehicle, which matches the vehicle the defendant was later found inside. Two of the three female victims were sexually assaulted during the course of the robberies. Although one of the female victims was not sexually assaulted during the robbery, she ran away at the time of the robbery, thereby limiting the opportunity [for the defendant] to sexually assault her.... Therefore, although none of the incidents are a carbon copy of the others, the incidents are strikingly similar. CP 17.

Additionally, (1) the perpetrator approached the victim as he or she exited a car; and (2) when the victim did not cooperate, the perpetrator forcefully took his or her property. Slip op. at 9.

After hearing evidence of all nine charged crimes, a jury convicted on all but one count. CP 136-44. The court sentenced Bluford to life without the possibility of release as a persistent offender. CP 196, 199. On appeal, Bluford argued the trial court abused its discretion in joining the counts for trial, erred in not giving a lesser offense instruction for the indecent liberties count, and erred in imposing a persistent offender

sentence. The Court of Appeals agreed with the latter two arguments, but affirmed the trial court's joinder decision. Slip op. at 1.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

1. JOINING NINE COUNTS INVOLVING SEVEN SEPARATE INCIDENTS FOR A SINGLE TRIAL PREJUDICED BLUFORD'S RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL.

Review is warranted because this case presents a significant question of constitutional law. RAP 14.3(b)(3). Joinder and severance are covered by court rule and statute. CrR 4.3(a)¹; CrR 4.4(b)² (severance); RCW 10.37.060 (joinder). But the constitutional dimension of the decision should not be overlooked. Joinder that results in a fundamentally unfair trial violates due process. Bean v. Calderon, 163 F.3d 1073, 1084 (9th Cir. 1998) (citing United States v. Lane, 474 U.S. 438, 446 n.8, 106 S. Ct. 725, 730, 88 L. Ed. 2d 814 (1986)); U.S. Const. amends. V, XIV; Wash. Const. art. I, § 3. Consideration of the requisite factors shows joinder violated Bluford's right to a fair trial. The evidence was not cross-

¹ CrR 4.3(a) provides: two or more offenses may be joined when they "(1) Are of the same or similar character, even if not part of a single scheme or plan; or (2) Are based on the same conduct or on a series of acts connected together or constituting parts of a single scheme or plan."

² CrR 4.4(b) provides, in relevant part: "The court . . . on application of the defendant . . . shall grant a severance of offenses whenever before trial or during trial with consent of the defendant, the court determines that severance will promote a fair determination of the defendant's guilt or innocence of each offense."

admissible to show identity because the test for showing a signature was unmet. And because the offenses were joined for the purpose of showing identity and the State urged the jury to consider the offenses collectively for this purpose, the jury could not be expected to do the opposite by compartmentalizing the offenses.

This case also presents an issue of substantial public importance. Whether evidence of other crimes is admissible to show identity is a recurring issue. The standard for showing a signature crime is meant to be stringent. State v. Coe, 101 Wn.2d 772, 778, 684 P.2d 668 (1984). But courts have tended to dilute the standard over the years, and the decision on review perpetuates the error. This case gives the Court the opportunity to clarify and reinvigorate the test for showing a unique modus operandi. For this reason, review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

a. Four factors are considered in determining whether joinder is unduly prejudicial.

Because joinder and severance are based on the same underlying principle that the defendant must receive a fair trial untainted by undue prejudice, the "pure" legal issue of joinder cannot be decided in a vacuum without considering prejudice. <u>State v. Bryant</u>, 89 Wn. App. 857, 865, 950 P.2d 1004 (1998), <u>review denied</u>, 137 Wn.2d 1017, 978 P.2d 1100 (1999). Thus, "even if joinder is legally permissible, the trial court should

not join offenses if prosecution of all charges in a single trial would prejudice the defendant." Bryant, 89 Wn. App. at 865.

Beginning with this Court's decision in State v. Smith, courts have assessed whether prejudice results from joinder by looking at four factors: (1) the strength of the State's evidence on each of the counts; (2) the clarity of the defenses on each count; (3) the trial court's instruction to the jury regarding the consideration of evidence of each count separately; and (4) admissibility of the evidence of the other crimes. State v. Smith, 74 Wn.2d 744, 755, 446 P.2d 571 (1968), vacated in part on other grounds, 408 U.S. 934, 92 S. Ct. 2852, 33 L. Ed. 2d 747 (1972); Bryant, 89 Wn. App. at 867-68. The central dispute on appeal involves two of these factors: whether the evidence was cross-admissible and whether the jury could be expected to compartmentalize the evidence based on the instruction to consider each count separately.

b. The evidence of different crimes did not establish a unique signature sufficient to show identity and so would not have been cross-admissible had the charges been separately tried.

The Court of Appeals upheld the trial court's ruling that the offenses were cross-admissible on the basis of showing identity through modus operandi. Slip op. at 9-11. On the contrary, the trial court abused

its discretion because it applied an improper legal standard and the evidence does not meet the signature test for showing identity.

Modus operandi is used to prove identity under ER 404(b). State v. Thang, 145 Wn.2d 630, 643, 41 P.3d 1159 (2002). When evidence of other acts is admitted to show identity, the method employed in the commission of crimes must be so unique that proof an accused committed one of the crimes creates a high probability that he also committed the other crimes. Thang, 145 Wn.2d at 643. The modus operandi used to prove identity "must be so unusual and distinctive as to be like a signature." Coe, 101 Wn.2d at 777.

The commonalities identified by the trial court do not meet the stringent test for showing the presence of a signature. These are ordinary incidents of robbery: the robbery occurred during hours of darkness in a residential area, the perpetrator was a stranger to the victim, and the victims were alone when a black male approached with a handgun and made verbal demands.³ Substantial similarity between crimes is not

³ See State v. Hernandez, 58 Wn. App. 793, 794 P.2d 1327 (1990) (in prosecution for three robberies, evidence on one charge was inadmissible on other charges under signature theory: "In each case, the robber entered a store, pulled a gun, asked for the money and fled upon receiving it. There is nothing about this method of robbery that suggests it is highly probable that the same robber committed all three crimes"), disapproved on other grounds by State v. Kjorsvik, 117 Wn.2d 93, 812 P.2d 86 (1991); State v. Bythrow, 114 Wn.2d 713, 715-16, 720, 790 P.2d 154 (1990) (no

enough to satisfy the unique modus operandi requirement. State v. DeVincentis, 150 Wn.2d 11, 18-21, 74 P.3d 119 (2003).

The court determined victim descriptions of the handgun were similar. CP 17. But a description of a black or dark gun is so general as to be useless in pegging it to a signature, and descriptions of the gun were not otherwise uniform.⁴ The court noted four victims gave a vehicle description that matched the vehicle Bluford was later found in. CP 17. But the make of the car was variously described, and was a common make at that.⁵ Only three victims, not four, described a vehicle.⁶ Four of the seven victims did not describe any vehicle being involved.

signature for two robberies; in each robbery two men entered business establishments, a weapon was pulled, money from cash register was demanded, and store workers were told to stay for 10 minutes).

⁴ <u>See</u> 11RP 63-64 (Sakounthang describes black or gray handgun as "medium sized"); Ex. 23 at 20 (R.J. describes black gun as "not very big"); 15RP 119 (Ramirez describes black/dark gun as large, and as a 9 mm in 911 call); 13RP 115, 125-26 (Rivera describes black gun as "little" and "small"); 17RP 171; 29RP 22 (R.U. describes black gun as a small .45); 15RP 46 (Cooksey merely says it was handgun).

⁵ See 11RP 16, 43, 66 (Sakounthong described a gray or black, late 80's or early 90's four-door Japanese car); 15RP 99-100 (Ramirez described a dark, 1993 to 1995 Honda Civic); 28RP 110, 29RP 27-29 (R.U. described a blue/green or olive/green car, 96' or 97' four door with tinted windows).

⁶ At the pre-trial hearing, the State claimed Rivera as the fourth person, and that he saw a black or gray "Civic like car." CP 406; 1RP 20. No testimony was actually admitted to back up that claim. Rivera testified he did not remember seeing any cars before he was approached or after the assailant left. 13RP 138.

While otherwise common features may add up to a signature when combined, dissimilar features of the crimes must be taken into account in determining whether the crimes establish a signature. Thang, 145 Wn.2d at 643, 645. Defense counsel pointed out (1) two victims were struck (R.U. and Ramirez), the others were not; (2) the manner of initiating contact was not the same in all cases, and a ruse was used at the onset of only one robbery (Sakounthong), (3) different words were spoken in demanding money; (4) and the victims were of different age, gender and ethnicity. CP 374-75.

There are other dissimilarities between offenses. Unlike other encounters where the assailant accosted victims in an open street upon arriving at their residential destination, the robbery of R.J. occurred inside a parking garage that could not generally be seen from the road (13RP 76) and the attack on R.U. happened after the man emerged from behind some bushes and pushed her into the garage. 28RP 86-90. The physical and clothing descriptions of the perpetrator were not identical. The offenses occurred in the same region, but in different cities (Seattle, Shoreline, Bellevue, Renton).

The robberies were perpetrated against both men and women. No single gender was targeted. The trial court found two of the three female victims were sexually assaulted during the robberies, while the third ran away "thereby limiting the opportunity to sexually assault her." CP 17. The implication is that the robber would have sexually assaulted the third woman (Cooksey) if he had more time, but this is speculation. Guessing would have happened had the circumstances been different does not properly make up for the lack of evidence to support a signature. The sexual assaults on the two other women (R.J. and R.U.) are markedly different. R.U. was violently raped. R.J. was at worst groped.

It is always possible to find common features between offenses by making generalizations about different details, ignoring or discounting differences in the details, and then conclude there is something unique about the combination of generalized behaviors. But that does not mean the identified signature meets the stringent legal requirements necessary to show identity through ER 404(b). Dissimilar features of the compared crimes, if any, must be taken into account in determining whether the crimes establish a signature. Thang, 145 Wn.2d at 643, 645. Thang illustrates a defect in the trial court's ruling. The trial court incorrectly applied the rule by not addressing the impact of dissimilarities between the offenses. CP 15-18. The trial court necessarily abused its discretion because it applied the wrong legal standard and based its ruling on an erroneous view of the law. State v. Quismundo, 164 Wn.2d 499, 504, 192 P.3d 342 (2008).

Bluford's case compares favorably to other cases where a signature was non-existent even though there were similarities between offenses.⁷ Any doubt about admissibility must be resolved in favor of the defendant. Thang, 145 Wn.2d at 643. But neither the trial court nor the Court of Appeals gave Bluford the benefit of any doubt.

⁷ See, e.g., State v. Eastabrook, 58 Wn. App. 805, 814, 795 P.2d 151 (1990) (test of uniqueness not met in rape case where (1) the apartments that were entered were occupied by lone females who had been gone during the late evening or early morning hours; (2) some clothing was disrupted in each apartment; (3) the suspect had similar physical characteristics; (4) the rapist wore a ring and a similar ring was found in the defendant's apartment when searched after the second burglary; (5) the rapist wore a ski mask and the defendant had a ski mask with him when detained as a prowler suspect; (6) the rapist used a knife and a knife was found in the bushes where the prowler had been seen; and (7) the rapist took a distinctive Wonder Woman towel and such a towel was seen in the defendant's apartment); State v. Smith, 106 Wn.2d 772, 778-79, 725 P.2d 951 (1986) (rapist and defendant both wore a leather jacket and gloves when committing the crimes but: (1) of the three burglaries and three rapes, only one rape and one burglary occurred on the same day or in close proximity to one another; (2) in the case of all six crimes, the mode of entry, through a door or window, was not unusual, (3) the items stolen in the burglaries differed somewhat from those taken at the scene of the rapes; (4) the clothing worn by defendant at the time of his arrest for burglary differed from that worn by the rapist; (5) the rapist wore gloves during each of the rapes, whereas defendant did not wear gloves during at least one of the burglaries); Thang, 145 Wn.2d at 645 (shared features of the offenses included (1) both cases involved theft of a purse and jewelry; (2) both victims were elderly; (3) in both cases, the perpetrator remarked "the bitch is dead" and (4) both victims were repeatedly kicked. However, there were also several dissimilarities between the two crimes that prevented the finding of a unique signature: (1) they occurred 18 months apart; (2) they took place in different parts of the state; (3) one victim was kicked three times and the other until she died; (4) entry occurred through a door in one case, through a window in the other; (5) the perpetrators fled in the victim's car in one case, by foot in the other).

The Court of Appeals cited State v. Jenkins, 53 Wn. App. 228, 766 P.2d 499 (1989)⁸ and State v. Laureano, 101 Wn.2d 745, 682 P.2d 889 (1984)⁹ as support for its holding that the evidence was cross-admissible to show modus operandi. But even the Court of Appeals acknowledged Bluford's case "does have more dissimilarities than Jenkins or Laureano." The test of uniqueness to establish identity is "stringent." Coe, 101 Wn.2d at 778. The decision in Bluford's case represents a watering down of this standard. The Court of Appeals rejected Bluford's argument that the similarities that the trial court identified are common in robberies on the ground that "the individual features do not have to be unique as long as

⁸ In <u>Jenkins</u>: (1) two men broke into several apartment complexes in the same area; (2) in each instance, one acted as a lookout while the other entered a ground floor apartment; (3) each break-in occurred during the morning; (4) a pipe wrench was used to break into each apartment; and (5) a brown Camero vehicle was used to leave each apartment. <u>Jenkins</u>, 53 Wn. App. at 237-30.

⁹ In <u>Laureano</u>: "Each incident occurred within an approximately two month period. Each incident occurred during hours of darkness. Each incident occurred in the Seattle metro area. Each incident occurred in a residential area. The defendant was a stranger to each victim. In each incident, the victims were alone when an African American male approached with a handgun and gave verbal demands to the victims. The descriptions of the handgun by the victims are similar. Four of the victims gave a description of the vehicle, which matches the vehicle the defendant was later found inside. Two of the three female victims were sexually assaulted during the course of the robberies. Although one of the female victims was not sexually assaulted during the robbery, she ran away at the time of the robbery, thereby limiting the opportunity [for the defendant] to sexually assault her. . . . Therefore, although none of the incidents are a carbon copy of the others, the incidents are strikingly similar." <u>Laureano</u>, 101 Wn.2d at 765.

they are sufficiently unique in combination." Slip op. 11. Bluford's argument, however, is that the features are not sufficiently unique in combination, and the Court of Appeals does not explain how adding up common features somehow transmogrifies the facts of this case into a signature.

The Court of Appeals and the trial court recited the rule for admitting *modus operandi* evidence, but in practice applied the less onerous test for admission under *common scheme or plan*. A common scheme may be established by evidence that the defendant "committed markedly similar acts of misconduct against similar victims under similar circumstances." State v. Lough, 125 Wn.2d 847, 852, 889 P.2d 487 (1995). Admission of common scheme evidence, which is relevant only when the existence of the crime as opposed to identity is at issue, requires "substantial similarity" between the prior acts and the charged crime. DeVincentis, 150 Wn.2d at 21. The common scheme test, however, does not require evidence of "a unique method of committing the crime." Id. at 20-21. Resort to the notion that a bunch of common features add up to a unique signature tends to blur the line between modus operandi evidence and common scheme evidence, and risks eviscerating the test for showing identity when not applied in a rigorous manner. The risk is realized here.

Even if the evidence of different offenses established modus operandi, that still does not mean the evidence of all these crimes is crossadmissible. The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's ruling that the evidence was cross-admissible under ER 404(b) for the purpose of showing identity. But merely identifying a proper purpose for admission is not enough to render ER 404(b) evidence admissible: "ER 404(b) is only the starting point for an inquiry into the admissibility of evidence of other crimes; it should not be read in isolation, but in conjunction with other rules of evidence, in particular ER 402 and 403." State v. Saltarelli, 98 Wn.2d 358, 361, 655 P.2d 697 (1982). The ER 403 analysis is particularly significant for the two charged sex offenses at issue, as they carried the highest risk of prejudice. Saltarelli, 98 Wn.2d at 364; State v. Sutherby, 165 Wn.2d 870, 884, 204 P.3d 916 (2009). The trial court did not consider the unfair prejudice analysis mandated by ER 403 in ruling the evidence was cross-admissible under ER 404(b). CP 15-18. Again, the court necessarily abused its discretion because it applied the wrong legal standard. Quismundo, 164 Wn.2d at 504.

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