RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Oct 28, 2016 3:52 PM CLERK'S OFFICE

**RECEIVED VIA PORTAL** 

#### NO. 93668-4

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

۷.

CHARLES LINNELL BLUFORD,

Petitioner.

### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW AND CROSS-PETITION

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

> STEPHANIE FINN GUTHRIE Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 477-9497

#

### C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

If this Court accepts review of this case, the State seeks cross-review of the following additional issues, which the Court of Appeals decided adversely to the State:

1. Whether the doctrine of invited error prevents the defendant from challenging on appeal the trial court's determination that a lesser-included instruction was not appropriate because the legal prong of the <u>Workman</u> test was not met, after the defendant explicitly conceded in the trial court that the legal prong of <u>Workman</u> was not met.

2. Whether a court may consider circumstantial evidence, such as a judge's comments at sentencing, in determining the statutory prong under which a defendant pled guilty in a prior case for purposes of engaging in a legal comparability analysis, and whether the circumstantial evidence in this case was

- 1 -

sufficient to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that the defendant was previously convicted under a comparable prong of the New Jersey robbery statute.

#### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The defendant, Charles Linnell Bluford, was convicted of six counts of robbery in the first degree against six different victims, as well as rape in the first degree against one of the robbery victims and indecent liberties by forcible compulsion against another. CP 11-14, 136-44. The facts of the crimes, which are relevant to the joinder issue of which Bluford seeks review, are set forth in the State's briefing before the Court of Appeals. Br. of Respondent at 3-17. Facts relevant to the additional issues raised in this Answer and Cross-Petition are set out below in the sections to which they pertain.

### E. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

The State's briefing at the Court of Appeals adequately responds to the joinder issue raised by Bluford in his petition for review. The State believes that review by this Court of the joinder issue is unnecessary. However, if this Court grants review of that issue, then in the interests of justice the Court should also grant review of the following issues raised in the Court of Appeals, which that court decided adversely to the State. RAP 13.4(d).

1. BLUFORD INVITED THE ERROR THAT CAUSED THE TRIAL COURT TO REFUSE TO INSTRUCT THE JURY ON FOURTH DEGREE ASSAULT AS A LESSER INCLUDED OFFENSE OF INDECENT LIBERTIES.

This Court may review a decision of the court of appeals that conflicts with another decision of the court of appeals or raises an issue of substantial public interest that should be decided by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b)(2), (4). In holding that Bluford did not invite the trial court's denial of an instruction on fourth degree assault lesser-included offense of indecent liberties, the court of appeals' decision mischaracterizes the record and conflicts with other decisions of the court of appeals. Bluford, 379 P.3d at 171.

a. Relevant Facts.

Bluford asked the trial court to instruct the jury on fourth degree assault as a lesser included offense of indecent liberties. CP 60-66. The State conceded that the factual prong of the <u>Workman</u> test was met, but argued that under <u>State v. Thomas</u><sup>1</sup> the legal prong was not met, because assault requires a mens rea of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> 98 Wn. App. 422, 989 P.2d 612 (1999).

intent, while indecent liberties requires only knowledge. 29RP 73-75. Bluford did not contest the continued validity of Thomas, and explicitly conceded that the legal prong of Workman was not met because assault requires a higher mens rea than indecent liberties. 29RP 74-75 ("[W]e are basically conceding the fact that we are asking for a higher mental standard of intent with the assault than indecent liberties."). However, Bluford argued that because the facts were sufficient in this case for the jury to find that he acted with the higher mens rea required for fourth degree assault, an instruction on assault was nevertheless appropriate. 29RP 75. He did not explain how his position could be reconciled with Workman's requirement that both the legal and factual prongs be met. The trial court agreed that assault requires a higher mens rea than indecent liberties, and therefore declined to give the requested instruction because the legal prong of the Workman test was not met. 29RP 76.

The court of appeals summarized Bluford's argument to the trial court by saying, "Bluford acknowledged <u>Thomas</u>'s holding on the claimed difference in mental state. But Bluford maintained that

- 4 -

a lesser included offense instruction was still appropriate." <u>Bluford</u>, 379 P.3d at 171. The court of appeals held that <u>Thomas</u> is no longer good law and that fourth degree assault does not require a higher level of intent than indecent liberties, and that the trial court therefore erred in ruling that the legal prong of <u>Workman</u> was not met. <u>Id.</u> at 170-71. It concluded that because "Bluford maintained that a lesser included offense instruction was appropriate," he did not invite the error. <u>Id.</u> at 171.

### b. The Court Of Appeals Erred In Holding That Bluford Did Not Invite The Error.

Upon request, a defendant is entitled to have the jury instructed on a lesser included offense when two conditions are met: (1) each of the elements of the lesser offense must be a necessary element of the crime charged (known as the "legal prong"), and (2) the evidence in the case must support an inference that only the lesser crime was committed (known as the "factual prong"). <u>State v. Workman</u>, 90 Wn.2d 443, 447-48, 584 P.2d 382 (1978). Under the invited error doctrine, the appellate courts will not review a party's assertion of an error to which the party "materially contributed" at trial. <u>In re Dependency of K.R.</u>, 128 Wn.2d 129, 147, 904 P.2d 1132 (1995). Where a party concedes a legal issue in the trial court, invited error prevents him from later challenging the trial court's ruling on that issue. <u>In re Det. of Rushton</u>, 190 Wn. App. 358, 371-72, 359 P.3d 935 (2015).

The court of appeals' opinion mischaracterizes the record in this case. Its description of Bluford's arguments in the trial court ignores the fact that Bluford did not merely acknowledge <u>Thomas</u>'s holding, but explicitly conceded that fourth degree assault requires a higher level of intent than indecent liberties. The trial court accepted that concession, and its agreement on that point of law was the sole basis for its conclusion that the legal prong of <u>Workman</u> was not met and that the requested lesser-included instruction should not be given.

The court of appeals therefore erred in concluding that Bluford did not "materially contribute to the error challenged on appeal by engaging in some type of affirmative action through which he knowingly and voluntarily sets up the error." <u>Bluford</u>, 379 P.3d at 171 (quoting <u>State v. Mercado</u>, 181 Wn. App. 624, 630, 326 P.3d 154 (2014)); <u>see Rushton</u>, 190 Wn. App. at 371-72 (any error in trial court's finding that annual review of sexually violent predator

- 6 -

status was not timely done was invited by the State's concession in the trial court that the statutory time restrictions were violated).

A defendant who asks a trial court to do something, but informs the trial court that it has no lawful authority to grant his request, should not then be allowed to challenge the denial of his request on appeal. Unfortunately, this is exactly the result that the court of appeals' opinion allows. If this Court grants Bluford's petition for review on the joinder issue, it should also accept review of this issue to correct the court of appeals' error.

> 2. A JUDGE'S COMMENTS AT SENTENCING MAY BE CONSIDERED AS CIRCUMSTANTIAL EVIDENCE OF THE STATUTORY PRONG UNDER WHICH THE DEFENDANT PLED GUILTY; THE STATE THEREFORE OFFERED SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO PROVE THAT BLUFORD'S NEW JERSEY GUILTY PLEA WAS MADE UNDER A COMPARABLE PRONG OF NEW JERSEY'S ROBBERY STATUTE.

The court of appeals held that the trial judge's comments in the judgment and sentence pertaining to Bluford's prior New Jersey robbery conviction may not be considered in evaluating whether the State has proven the legal comparability of that conviction. <u>Bluford</u>, 379 P.3d at 173. The court of appeals concluded that the State failed to prove the legal comparability of Bluford's New Jersey conviction. <u>Id.</u> The former holding is inconsistent with opinions of this Court allowing the use of transcripts of prior proceedings to establish criminal history, and the latter holding fails to faithfully apply the preponderance of the evidence standard.

a. Relevant Facts.

At sentencing, the State presented documents related to Bluford's two 1998 South Carolina convictions for armed robbery and his 1994 New Jersey conviction for robbery. Sentencing Ex. 3, 4;<sup>2</sup> CP 306-47. The New Jersey documents established that Bluford was originally indicted for a first degree violation of N.J. Stat. 2C:15-1, with the specific allegations that Bluford "in the course of committing a theft, did threaten immediate bodily injury to Joseph Salladino and/or did purposely put Joseph Salladino in fear of immediate bodily injury while armed with and/or threatening the immediate use of [a] deadly weapon." CP 316. This charging language corresponds to the second of three possible ways in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Copies of the exhibits appear in the Clerk's Papers as attachments to the State's sentencing brief. CP 305-47. The exhibits contain much clearer photocopies of the documents; however, because the exhibits do not have page numbers, this brief will primarily cite to the Clerk's Papers.

which robbery can be committed in New Jersey. N.J. Stat. 2C:15-1(a)(2).<sup>3</sup>

Pursuant to his New Jersey plea agreement, Bluford pled guilty to second degree robbery rather than first degree. CP 313-14. However, it appears that no amended charging document was ever filed. Sent. Ex. 4; CP 321 (certification that records provided are true and correct copy of original record in the case). The Judgement of Conviction, in describing the original and final charges, does not specify the subsection of N.J. Stat. 2C:15-1 under which Bluford was originally charged or pled guilty. CP 313. It simply lists the description for both the original and final charges as "robbery," the statute for both as "2C:15-1," and the degree for the original charge as "1" and for the final charge as "2." CP 313.

- (1) Inflicts bodily injury or uses force upon another; or
- (2) Threatens another with or purposely puts him in fear of immediate bodily injury; or
- (3) Commits or threatens immediately to commit any crime of the first or second degree.

An act shall be deemed to be included in the phrase "in the course of committing a theft" if it occurs in an attempt to commit theft or in immediate flight after the attempt or commission. b. Grading. Robbery is a crime of the second degree, except that it is a crime of the first degree if in the course of committing the theft the actor attempts to kill anyone, or purposely inflicts or attempts to inflict serious bodily injury, or is armed with, or uses or threatens the immediate use of a deadly weapon.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> N.J. Stat. 2C:15-1 states:

a. Robbery defined. A person is guilty of robbery if, in the course of committing a theft, he:

In setting out the trial court's reasons for the sentence imposed, the New Jersey judgment indicates that the offense was an armed robbery in which the defendant and a juvenile accomplice stole cash and a ring from the victim, using a weapon that appeared to the victim to be a 9mm handgun but was in fact a BB gun. CP 314. However, the specific facts to which Bluford admitted as a basis for his plea are not clear from the record.<sup>4</sup>

At sentencing in the current case, the State argued that Bluford's South Carolina and New Jersey convictions were each legally and factually comparable to a Washington "most serious offense," specifically first degree robbery and/or second degree robbery. CP 272-75, 278-84; 34RP 25-28. Bluford stated that he did not concede that the offenses were comparable, but he offered no specific arguments challenging the State's analysis. CP 415-16; 34RP 31-32. The trial court agreed with the State, and found that all three of the out-of-state convictions were legally and factually comparable to a Washington conviction for first degree or second degree robbery or attempted robbery. 34RP 34-38; CP 196.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The written plea form states that Bluford would need to make an oral statement of what he did that made him guilty of the crime before the court accepted his plea. CP 318. However, there is no surviving record of what Bluford said at the plea hearing.

The court of appeals concluded that the State had failed to prove the legal comparability of Bluford's New Jersey conviction. <u>Bluford</u>, 379 P.3d at 173. It declined to draw any inferences from the lack of an amended charging document, and held that the trial court's comments in the judgment and sentence could not be considered when evaluating legal comparability. Id.

b. The Details Of A Defendant's Conviction May Be Proved By Circumstantial Evidence, Such As A Trial Court's Comments At Sentencing.

The Sentencing Reform Act (SRA) provides that, when a defendant has prior convictions in another state, the out-of-state convictions are considered part of the defendant's criminal history and "shall be classified according to the comparable offense definitions and sentences provided by Washington law." RCW 9.94A.525(3); RCW 9.94A.030(12). The State bears the burden to prove comparability by a preponderance of the evidence. <u>State v.</u> Ross, 152 Wn.2d 220, 230, 95 P.3d 1225 (2004).

If the elements of an out-of-state offense are "substantially similar" to the elements of a Washington criminal statute in effect when the out-of-state offense was committed, or if the foreign jurisdiction defines the crime more narrowly than Washington, the out-of-state conviction is legally comparable and counts toward the

- 11 -

defendant's offender score. <u>In re Pers. Restraint of Lavery</u>, 154 Wn.2d 249, 255, 111 P.3d 837 (2005); <u>State v. Ford</u>, 137 Wn.2d 472, 479-80, 973 P.2d 452 (1999).

Although a certified copy of a judgment is usually the best method of proving the existence and nature of a prior conviction, this Court has held that "other comparable documents of record or transcripts of prior proceedings" may also be used. In re Pers. Restraint of Adolph, 170 Wn.2d 556, 568, 243 P.3d 540 (2010). When the transcript of a prior proceeding is used to establish the details of a prior conviction, the court conducting a comparability analysis relies on the statements of the court and the parties in the prior proceedings as circumstantial evidence of the crime of which the defendant was convicted. If the prior trial court made statements on the record in the prior proceeding suggesting that the defendant had pled guilty pursuant to a particular statutory prong, the current court would be permitted to rely upon that statement as evidence that the defendant's conviction was in fact entered under that prong. Cf. id.

There is no principled reason to distinguish between a trial court's oral statements recorded in the transcript of a prior proceeding and written statements recorded in the judgment and

- 12 -

sentence. Whether those statements are sufficient to prove the prong under which the defendant pled by a preponderance of the evidence is a separate question, but it is illogical to say that written statements in a judgment and sentence may not be considered when this Court has established that oral statements documented in a transcript may be considered. The court of appeals therefore erred in holding that the New Jersey court's comments in the judgment and sentence could not be considered as circumstantial evidence of the prong under which Bluford pled guilty.

c. The State Proved The Comparability Of Bluford's New Jersey Conviction By A Preponderance Of The Evidence.

Although the State must establish a prior conviction's existence and comparability by a preponderance of the evidence, "that burden is not overly difficult to meet and may be satisfied by evidence that bears some minimum indicia of reliability." <u>Adolph</u>, 170 Wn.2d at 569 (internal quotations marks omitted). Proving a fact "by a preponderance of the evidence" merely requires proving that the fact is more likely than not true. <u>In re Pers. Restraint of Woods</u>, 154 Wn.2d 400, 414, 114 P.3d 607 (2005).

The court of appeals Bluford's indictment charged first degree robbery under language corresponding to N.J. Stat.

- 13 -

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